© 2010 Adis Data Information BV. All rights reserved.

Infections with Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae Changing Epidemiology and Drug Treatment Choices

Johann D.D. Pitout

Division of Microbiology, Calgary Laboratory Services; Departments of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine; and Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada

Contents

Abstract
1. The Changing Epidemiology of Infections due to Enterobacteriaceae that Produce ESBLs 316
1.1 The Emergence of CTX-Mβ-Lactamases
1.2 Importance and Distribution of CTX-M-15-Producing Escherichia coli
1.3 Molecular Epidemiology of CTX-M-15-Producing <i>E. coli</i>
1.4 Emergence of Multilocus Sequencing Typing Clone ST131 O25:H4 Producing CTX-M-15 318
2. Economic Burden of Infections due to ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae
3. Treatment of Infections Caused by ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Susceptibility of Enterobacteriaceae that Produce ESBLs
3.3 Specific Agents for the Treatment of Infections Caused by ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae 322
3.3.1 Carbapenems
3.3.2 Cephalosporins
3.3.3 Cephamycins
3.3.4 β-Lactam/β-Lactamase Inhibitor Combinations
3.3.5 Aminoglycosides
3.3.6 Fluoroquinolones
3.3.7 Other Agents
4. Summary and Conclusions

Abstract

Since 2000, *Escherichia coli* producing CTX-M enzymes (especially CTX-M-15) have emerged worldwide as important causes of community-onset urinary tract infections (UTIs) and bloodstream infections due to extended-spectrum β -lactamase (ESBL)-producing bacteria. Molecular epidemiology studies suggested that the sudden worldwide increase of CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* is mostly due to a single clone named ST131 and that foreign travel to high-risk areas such as the Indian subcontinent might in part play a role in the spread of this clone across different continents. Empirical antibacterial coverage for these resistant organisms should be considered in community patients presenting with sepsis involving the urinary tract especially if a patient recently travelled to a high-risk area. Infections due to ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae are associated with a delay in initiation of appropriate antibacterial therapy, which consequently prolongs hospital

stays and increases hospital costs. Failure to initiate appropriate antibacterial therapy from the start appears to be responsible for higher patient mortality. The carbapenems are widely regarded as the drugs of choice for the treatment of severe infections due to ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae, although comparative clinical trials are lacking. Agents that may be useful for the treatment of ESBL-associated UTIs include fosfomycin, nitrofurantoin and temocillin. If this emerging public health threat is ignored, it is possible that clinicians may be forced in the near future to use the carbapenems as the first choice for empirical treatment of serious infections associated with UTIs originating from the community.

The production of β -lactamases is the most important contributing factor to β-lactam resistance in Gram-negative bacteria.^[1] β-Lactamases are bacterial enzymes that inactivate β -lactam antibacterials by hydrolysis, which results in ineffective compounds. β-Lactamases can differ from one another in their substrate profiles (i.e. the different types of antibacterials they can inactivate), inhibitor profile (i.e. which compounds inactivate them) and sequence homology (i.e. amino acid composition). At least 500 different types of β-lactamases, originating from clinical isolates, have been described and a website has been specifically created to monitor the latest developments (URL: http://www.lahey.org/studies/ webt.htm).

Clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* producing the so-called 'newer β -lactamases' have been described from different parts of the world. These enzymes include plasmid-mediated cephamycinases, extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs), and carbapenem-hydrolysing enzymes or carbapenemases.^[1]

The ESBLs are a group of enzymes that have the ability to hydrolyse and cause resistance to the oxyimino-cephalosporins (cefotaxime, ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, cefuroxime and cefepime) and monobactams (aztreonam), but not the cephamycins (cefoxitin, cefotetan) or carbapenems (imipenem, meropenem, doripenem and ertapenem).^[2] These enzymes are inhibited by the socalled 'classical' β -lactamase inhibitors such as clavulanic acid, sulbactam and tazobactam. The majority of ESBLs belong to the class A Ambler classification, and include the SHV or TEM types that have evolved from parent enzymes (e.g. TEM-1 and -2 and SHV-1) due to point mutations around the active site of the β -lactamases.^[2] ESBLs are often located on large plasmids that also harbour genes for resistance to other antimicrobial classes and, therefore, will often exhibit multidrug-resistant phenotypes that include resistance to aminoglycosides and cotrimoxazole (trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole).

Organisms producing SHV and TEM types of ESBLs have traditionally been responsible for serious nosocomial infections. Specific risk factors for acquisition of these bacteria identified previously included length of hospital stay, severity of illness, time in the intensive care unit (ICU), intubations and mechanical ventilation, urinary or arterial catheterization, and previous exposure to antibacterials.^[2] The majority of the patients infected with ESBL-producing organisms have been admitted to ICUs, but infections can also occur in almost any other area of the hospital. These organisms are also isolated with increasing frequency from patients in extendedcare facilities.^[3] Infections caused by ESBLproducing bacteria are often associated with increased morbidity, mortality and healthcareassociated costs.^[4,5]

ESBLs have been identified in various members of the Enterobacteriaceae as well as *P. aeruginosa*; however, *Klebsiella* spp. were mostly responsible for producing these enzymes during the 1980s and 1990s.^[2] Interestingly, since 2000, *Escherichia coli* has emerged as an important organism responsible for producing ESBLs. While *Klebsiella* spp. were mostly involved in nosocomial infections, *E. coli* was more likely to cause community-onset infections.^[6]

The most recent worldwide surveys of ESBLproducing Enterobacteriaceae are from the 'study for monitoring antimicrobial resistance trends' or SMART programme. The SMART programme monitors the activity of several antimicrobial agents against Gram-negative bacteria from intra-abdominal infections. This programme has been ongoing since 2002 in most regions of the world. The latest data regarding the prevalence of ESBLs in isolates collected during 2007 show some alarmingly high rates of ESBLproducing E. coli and Klebsiella spp. in certain areas of Asia. Rates as high as 55% were reported from China and a staggering 79% of E. coli collected in India were positive for ESBLs.^[7,8] An interesting aspect of the data from India was that the ESBL prevalence was equally high among E. coli collected from the hospital and community settings.^[8]

Phylogenetic analyses of *E. coli* have shown that isolates can be divided into four main phylogenetic groups, namely A, B1, B2 and D.^[9] A

possible link between phylogeny and virulence has been observed. Virulent isolates causing extraintestinal infections belong mainly to group B2 and, to a lesser extent, to group D, whereas most commensal strains belong to groups A and B1.^[10] Studies have addressed an association of the presence of ESBLs in *E. coli* with specific phylogenetic groups and have shown that the prevalence of ESBLs was lower among isolates belonging to the B2 phylogenetic group, suggesting a trade-off between resistance and virulence.^[11]

Organisms producing ESBLs are clinically relevant and have become important players among antimicrobial-resistant organisms. A report from the Infectious Diseases Society of America from 2006 has listed ESBL-producing *Klebsiella* spp. and *E. coli* as priority drugresistant microbes to which new therapies are urgently needed.^[12] The characteristics of bacteria (i.e. *Klebsiella* spp. and *E. coli*) that produce ESBLs are shown in table I.

Table I. The characteristics of bacteria that produce extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs)

Characteristic	Escherichia coli	Klebsiella spp.	
Origin	Community-onset	Nosocomial	
Type of ESBL	Ambler class A CTX-M (especially CTX-M-15)	Ambler class A SHV (especially SHV-2, -5, -12) TEM (especially TEM-3, -26, -51)	
Type of infection	UTIs Intra-abdominal infections Primary bacteraemia	Primary bacteraemia Respiratory tract infections, Intra-abdominal infections Skin and soft tissue infections UTIs	
Susceptibilities	Resistance to all penicillins and cephalosporins Susceptible to cephamycins, carbapenems and β-lactam/ β-lactamase combinations Resistance also present to other classes of antibacterials, especially fluoroquinolones and cotrimoxazole	Resistance to all penicillins and cephalosporins Susceptible to cephamycins, carbapenems and β-lactam/- β-lactamase combinations Resistance also present to other classes of antibacterials, especially aminoglycosides and cotrimoxazole	
Molecular epidemiology	Worldwide spread of clone ST131 that especially produce CTX-M-15 associated with IncFII plasmids	Most often clonal spread within a ward or institution Plasmid spread has also been described	
Risk factors	Repeat UTIs and underlying renal pathology Previous antibacterials including cephalosporins and fluoroquinolones Previous hospitalization Residence in a nursing home Older age (male and female patients) Diabetes mellitus Underlying liver pathology International travel	Longer length of hospital stay Severity of illness (more severe, the higher risk) Longer time in the intensive care unit Intubations and mechanical ventilation Urinary or arterial catheterization Previous exposure to antibacterials (especially cephalosporins)	

1. The Changing Epidemiology of Infections due to Enterobacteriaceae that Produce ESBLs

1.1 The Emergence of CTX-Mβ-Lactamases

CTX-M β -lactamases (which stands for 'active on <u>CefoTaX</u>ime, 1st isolated in <u>M</u>unich') were first reported from Japan in 1986^[13] and during the 1990s occasional nosocomial outbreaks mostly due to CTX-M-2-producing Enterobacteriaceae were reported from South America (especially in Argentina).^[14] However, since 2000 *E. coli* producing CTX-M enzymes have emerged worldwide as important causes of community-onset urinary tract infections (UTIs) and have been called 'the CTX-M pandemic'.^[11,15] This phenomenon accelerated rapidly especially during the past 5 years and today organisms producing these enzymes are the most common type of ESBL found in most areas of the world.^[16]

The CTX-M β -lactamases are encoded by genes that have been captured by mobile elements (such as ISEcp1) from the chromosomes of the environmental bacteria called Kluyvera spp.^[17] Several studies have reported the dissemination of bla_{CTX-M} genes associated with highly efficient mobile genetic elements. Genes encoding CTX-M β-lactamases have been associated with different genetic platforms, such as the insertion elements ISEcp1, ISCR1 or phage-related sequences that are often located on conjugative plasmids.^[18] The insertion element ISEcp1 plays an important role in the expression and continuous spread of these β-lactamases.^[19] The genes responsible for CTX-M β -lactamases are encoded by plasmids belonging to both narrow host-range types (IncFI, IncFII, IncHI2 and IncI) or broad host-range types (IncN, IncP-1-a, IncL/M and IncA/C).^[20]

Although CTX-M enzymes also belong to the class A Ambler classification, they are not related to other ESBLs such as the TEM or SHV types. Currently, CTX-M β -lactamases includes more than 80 different enzymes that are clustered into six groups based on their amino acid identities and include the CTX-M-1, -2, -8, -9, -25 and -45 groups.^[21] The members of these clusters exhibit >94% amino acid identity within each group and ≥90% amino acid identity between the different

groups. CTX-M enzymes are more active against cefotaxime and ceftriaxone than against ceftazidime, but point mutations around the active site of some enzymes belonging to the CTX-M-1 and CTX-M-9 groups have increased their ability to hydrolyse ceftazidime significantly.^[22]

Although Enterobacteriaceae producing CTX-M β -lactamases have been involved in hospitalacquired infections, *E. coli* producing these enzymes are more likely to be responsible for community-onset infections.^[15] This is very different from infections caused by bacteria producing TEM- and SHV-derived ESBLs that are often limited to nosocomial outbreaks. Risk factors for acquiring community-onset infections due to CTX-M-producing *E. coli* include repeat UTIs, underlying renal pathology, previous antibacterials including cephalosporins and fluoroquinolones, previous hospitalization, residence in a nursing home, diabetes mellitus, underlying liver pathology and international travel.^[23,24]

It is interesting to note that organisms producing specific CTX-Ms have been isolated from different countries: CTX-M-9 and CTX-M-14 are mostly present in Spain, CTX-M-14 in Canada and China, CTX-M-1 in Italy, CTX-M-3 in Poland, and CTX-M-2 in several South American countries, Japan and Israel, while CTX-M-15 has been described from all continents except Antarctica.^[11,15,16] Additionally, surveys from several countries have illustrated the association of resistance genes of other antimicrobial classes (especially to the fluoroquinolones) among CTX-M-producing organisms.^[11,15] Reports have also shown that CTX-M-15-producing E. coli are more likely to be multiresistant when compared with other CTX-M-producing isolates.^[25]

1.2 Importance and Distribution of CTX-M-15-Producing *Escherichia coli*

Currently, the most widely distributed CTX-M enzyme on a worldwide basis is CTX-M-15, which was first detected in *E. coli* from India in 2001.^[26] CTX-M-15 belongs to the CTX-M-1 cluster and is derived from CTX-M-3 by one amino acid substitution at position 240 (Asp \rightarrow Gly). This substitution confers increased catalytic activity to ceftazidime, and bacteria producing these enzymes often test resistant to this agent.^[22] The mobilization and production of CTX-M-15 is also associated with the insertion element IS*Ecp1* that is located 49 bp upstream of $bla_{\text{CTX-M-15}}$.^[26,27]

CTX-M-15 has often been associated with the co-production of other β -lactamases such as TEM-1, OXA-1 and the aminoglycosidemodifying enzyme, aac(6')-*Ib*-cr.^[28] aac(6')-*Ib*-cr has the additional ability to acetylate fluoroquinolones with unprotected amino nitrogen on the piperazine ring such as norfloxacin and ciprofloxacin.^[29] The production of CTX-M-15, TEM-1, OXA-1 and aac(6')-*Ib*-cr has been linked to epidemic narrow host range IncFII plasmids, and is in part responsible for the resistance profile often noted with *E. coli* producing CTX-M-15.^[20]

Multidrug-resistant CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* is emerging worldwide, especially since 2003, as an important pathogen causing community-onset and hospital-acquired infections,^[15] and has been reported from most countries in Europe,^[30] some countries in Asia,^[31] and Africa,^[16] North America,^[32,33] South America^[34] and Australia^[35] (figure 1).

CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* is the most common type of ESBL in Europe and has been increasingly described in community isolates, particularly associated with infections in healthcare-associated patients.^[36] The widespread dispersion of CTX-M-15 across Western and Eastern Europe (including the UK) has been associated with specific clones as well as the transfer of specific epidemic IncFII plasmids harbouring the *bla*_{CTX-M-15} gene.^[27,30,36]

CTX-M enzymes (most often CTX-M-14 and -27) have been described in Asia especially since the late 1990s and early 2000s; however, reports on the presence of CTX-M-5 outside the subcontinent (i.e. India and Pakistan) remain relatively scarce.^[31] Reports from India indicate that CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* is very common in the community as well as the hospital settings.^[37,38] Therefore, it is possible that India represents a significant reservoir and source of CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli*. CTX-M-15 has also been reported from community and hospital isolates in the Middle East.^[39]

In Africa, CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* has been identified in Saharan (Algeria, Tunisia) and sub-Saharan countries including Cameroon, Tanzania and the Central African Republic.^[40-43]



Fig. 1. Worldwide distribution of Escherichia coli that produce CTX-M-15 (grey shading).

In North America, the ESBL profiles differ considerably between the US and Canada. Until 2007, reports of CTX-M-producing strains were rare in the US, while TEM and SHV types were the dominant ESBLs in this country.^[44,45] Lewis et al.^[32] reported the first emergence of CTX-M-15 in Texas as the most common enzyme among other ESBLs. Castanheira et al.^[46] performed a surveillance study of β -lactam resistance in Enterobacteriaceae recovered from US medical centres during the MYSTIC (Meropenem Yearly Susceptibility Test Information Collection) programme of 2007. CTX-M-encoding genes were detected in 38.8% of ESBL-positive isolates and were observed in 80.0% of the participating hospitals. In Canada, the largest outbreak involving CTX-M-15 occurred in multiple long-term care facilities in Toronto between 2000 and 2002.^[28] and later its emergence was also reported in several studies from the Calgary Health Region.^[25,47]

In South America, CTX-M-15 was first reported in 2004 among faecal E. coli isolates from Peru and Bolivia^[48] and later in Colombia,^[49] although South America is particularly dominated by CTX-M-2- and CTX-M-9-producing E. coli.^[34]

A recent report from Sydney, NSW, Australia, has described CTX-M-15 as the dominant ESBL among clinical isolates of E. coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae, and CTX-M was present in a wide range of community isolates.^[35]

1.3 Molecular Epidemiology of CTX-M-15-Producing E. coli

The molecular epidemiology of clinical CTX-M-15-producing E. coli on a countrywide or regional scale has been described from various continents and includes Russia,^[50] UK,^[51] India,^[37] Spain,^[52] Austria,^[53] Italy,^[54] Portugal,^[55] France.^[56] Canada.^[25] US^[32] and Sweden.^[57] These studies included E. coli isolates collected from different parts of the respective countries, either as part of prospective surveillance studies over a specific period or acting as a reference laboratory for resistance isolates. Some of the reports describe some clonal similarity among the CTX-M-15 producers especially in those from

Russia, Italy, Spain, Portugal, France, Sweden, UK and Canada. Interestingly, in the studies that used pulsed field gel electrophoresis for typing, the clonal relatedness among the isolates was most often less than 80% and therefore did not meet the 'possibly related (4-6 bands difference)' criteria of Tenover et al.^[58] However, typing of CTX-M-15 E. coli from the Indian, Austrian and US studies demonstrated great diversity among the different isolates.

Molecular characterization of plasmids encoding CTX-M-15 from E. coli strains involved in outbreaks in different countries showed that they additionally carried other antibacterial resistance genes, such as bla_{OXA-1} , bla_{TEM-1} , tetA, aac(6')-Ib-cr and aac(3)-II, and sometimes within a class 1 integron.^[20,28,59] The bla_{CTX-M-15} was located on closely related IncFII plasmids of various sizes (85-200 kb), transferability properties and replicon contents (FII or FII-FIA).^[20] However, association with IncFI plasmids has also been noted.^[60] Marcade et al.^[61] reported that *bla*_{CTX-M-15} was carried by FIA-FIB, FIA-FIB-FII and FIB-FII multireplicons. The diversity of such plasmids may be explained by the different recombinal events between IncFII plasmids with different variations in *copA*, which may alter their compatibility properties.^[20]

1.4 Emergence of Multilocus Sequencing Typing Clone ST131 O25:H4 Producing CTX-M-15

An identical clone named ST131 has been identified using multilocus sequencing typing (MLST) among CTX-M-15-producing E. coli isolated during 2000-6 from several countries including Spain, France, Canada, Portugal, Switzerland, Lebanon, India, Kuwait and Korea.^[62,63] MLST offers a more fundamental perspective of the population biology of a species, defining 'sequence types' (ST) based on polymorphisms within strongly conserved 'housekeeping' genes. Serogroup O25 is associated with clone ST131 and belongs to the highly virulent phylogenetic group B2 while harbouring multidrug-resistant IncFII plasmids. These two initial studies^[62,63] showed that clone ST131 had

Pitout

Epidemiology and Treatment of ESBL Infections

emerged independently in different parts of the world spanning three continents at the same time. Their findings suggested that the emergence of clone ST131 could be due to contaminated food/water sources and/or importation into various countries via returning travellers.

MLST is the most reliable method for the identification of clone ST131. This technique is the most suitable typing method for comparing data generated independently from different laboratories and therefore ideal for tracking antimicrobial-resistant bacteria on a worldwide basis.^[64] Unfortunately, MLST is expensive, time consuming and not really suitable to track resistant clones in a rapid, real-time fashion. Methods for the rapid and easy identification of clone ST131 have recently been published and include repetitive-element polymerase chain reaction (PCR) typing schemes, [65,66] PCR for the pabB allele,^[67] PCR for ST131-associated single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in mdh and gyrB combined with the O25b rfb allele,^[68] and a triplex PCR that targeted the operon afa FM955459 and part of the CTX-M-15 gene.^[69]

Clone ST131 producing CTX-M-15 has also recently been described in the UK,^[70] Italy,^[71] Turkey,^[72] Croatia,^[73] Japan,^[74] the US^[75] and Norway.^[76] *E. coli* belonging to clone ST131 without CTX-M-producing β -lactamases has been isolated from stools of healthy volunteers in Paris, France^[77] and among isolates causing UTIs in Canada.^[68] CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* belonging to clone ST131 have been identified in isolates recovered from the community,^[78] hospital^[79] and nursing home settings^[80] and, interestingly, in a companion animal.^[81]

Johnson and colleagues^[68] recently gave some insight into the origin of clone ST131. They studied 199 cotrimoxazole-resistant and fluoroquinolone-resistant *E. coli* isolated from urine during 2002–4. They identified clone ST131 in 23% of isolates and nearly all were fluoroquinoloneresistant (i.e. 99%) but, notably, remained susceptible to cephalosporins (i.e. only 2% of clone ST131 in that study were resistant to the cephalosporins!). Therefore, it is possible that clone ST131 is common among fluoroquinoloneresistant *E. coli* and it seems that ST131 does not necessarily have to produce an ESBL.^[68] This issue should be investigated by searching for clone ST131 among fluoroquinolone-resistant *E. coli* that were isolated in the mid- to late 1990s.

Why did CTX-M-15-producing E. coli emerge simultaneously in different continents as a cause of community-onset infections? Recent studies from Calgary, AB, Canada and Auckland, New Zealand shed some light on this intriguing question.^[23,82,83] The publication from New Zealand describes a series of patients who presented to an Auckland hospital with community-onset genitourinary tract infections due to CTX-M-15-producing E. coli who had a history of travel to or recent emigration from the Indian subcontinent.^[82] All the patients lacked the traditional risk factors associated with UTIs. The Canadian study demonstrated that travel to the Indian subcontinent (India, Pakistan), Africa and the Middle East was associated with a high risk of UTI (including urosepsis) with an ESBLproducing E. coli in returning travellers.^[23] A follow-up study showed that this high risk of infection was mostly due to the acquisition of clone ST131 producing CTX-M-15.^[83]

A different study from Calgary over an 8-year period (2000–7) showed that the *E. coli* clone ST131 producing CTX-M-15 has emerged as an important cause of community-onset bacteraemia during the later part of the study period. (i.e. 1 of 18 [5%] ESBL-producing *E. coli* isolated from blood between 2000 and 2003 was ST131 as opposed to 20 of 49 [41%] isolated between 2004 and 2007).^[84] In this study, clone ST131 (as compared with other ESBL-producing *E. coli*) was more likely to be resistant to several antibacterials, more likely to produce the aminogly-coside-modifying enzyme aac(6')-*Ib-cr*, and more likely to cause community-acquired infections and urosepsis.

These studies suggest that the sudden worldwide increase of CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* is at least in part due to clone ST131. Since reports from India indicate that more than 70% of *E. coli* collected from the community are ESBL producers,^[8] it is conceivable that foreign travel to high-risk areas such as the Indian subcontinent potentially plays an important role in spread across different continents. Empirical antibacterial coverage for these resistant organisms should be considered in community patients presenting with sepsis involving the urinary and biliary tracts, especially in areas with a high prevalence of ESBL-producing *E. coli*.

The high spreading capacity of CTX-M-15producing *E. coli* includes two possible ways: the spread of an epidemic clone (such as ST131) with selective advantages (as multiple antibacterial resistance and enhanced virulence factors) between different hospitals, long-term care facilities and the community; or the horizontal transfer of plasmids or genes that carry *bla*CTX-M-15 alleles. The literature suggests that the spread of CTX-M-15 *E. coli* is mostly due to clone ST131 but plasmid transfer also seems to be important in certain places.

2. Economic Burden of Infections due to ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae

The economic and clinical outcomes of infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria were evaluated in a recent matched-cohort study.[85] Twentyone patients infected with ESBL-producing E. coli or Klebsiella spp. at sites other than the urinary tract were compared with 21 patients with non-ESBL infections matched for pathogen, patient age, co-morbid conditions, anatomical site of infection, hospital location, date of hospitalization and initial antimicrobials received. The two groups were well matched with respect to demographic and clinical characteristics, except that patients with ESBL-positive strains had been hospitalized for a longer period before onset of the infection (24 vs 11 days) and were more likely to have recently received antimicrobials (42.9% vs 4.8%). Patients infected with ESBL-producing strains had significantly higher infection-related hospital costs than did those with non-ESBLproducing strains (\$US41 353 vs \$US24 902 per patient, year of costing 2004), which was largely driven by a prolonged length of stay in the hospital. Patients with ESBL-producing strains required an additional length of stay of 9.7 days. In both groups, hospital bed costs accounted for approximately 55% of total costs, whereas antimicrobial costs represented only 2–3% of the total. Initial antimicrobial therapy was less likely to be successful in patients infected with the ESBL-positive strains (47.6% vs 85.7%), reflecting a difference in success rates for non-carbapenem β -lactams and fluoroquinolones. In contrast, treatment was successful in all patients who received a carbapenem, regardless of ESBL phenotype. Patients in whom initial antibacterial therapy failed were significantly more likely to receive sequential antibacterial therapy, thus increasing their length of stay and hospital costs.

Similar results were obtained in an earlier casecontrol study involving 33 patients infected with ESBL-producing E. coli or K. pneumoniae and 66 matched control individuals.^[86] Patients with ESBL-producing strains had significantly greater median hospital charges than did those with non-ESBL-producing strains (\$US66 590 vs \$US22 231 per patient, year of costing 2000). On multivariate analysis, which controlled for APACHE II (Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II) score and hospitalization duration before infection, ESBL-producing strains increased costs by an average of 1.71-fold relative to controls. Hospital stays were also 1.7 times longer after correction for APACHE II scores, although this difference largely disappeared when correction was also made for the duration of hospitalization before infection.

A larger case-control study compared 99 bacteraemic patients with ESBL-producing strains of E. coli, Klebsiella spp. or Proteus spp. with 99 control patients with bacteraemia caused by non-ESBL strains.^[4] Patients with ESBL-positive strains had significantly higher average hospital costs (\$US46970 vs \$US16877 per patient, year of costing 2003), longer median hospital stays after the onset of bacteraemia (11 vs 5 days) and higher in-hospital mortality (35% vs 18%) compared with control individuals. After adjusting for potential confounding variables in multivariate analyses, ESBL production remained independently associated with increased hospital costs (p=0.003), longer hospital stays (p=0.001) and higher in-hospital mortality (p=0.008). Moreover, patients with ESBL-positive strains were much more likely than control individuals to have a delay of at least 48 hours until initiation of appropriate antimicrobial therapy (66% vs 7%).

The importance of selecting appropriate initial antimicrobial therapy to patient outcome is illustrated by a prospective study of 455 consecutive cases of K. pneumoniae at 12 hospitals in seven countries.^[87] Eighty-five cases were caused by an ESBL-producing strain, and, of these, 20 patients (23.5%) died within 14 days of the first positive blood culture. Failure to administer an appropriate antibacterial with in vitro activity against the isolate within the first 5 days resulted in significantly higher mortality than treatment with an appropriate antibacterial (63.6% vs 14.1%). Patients who received a carbapenem - either alone or in combination with another antibacterial during that 5-day period had 83% lower risk for 14-day mortality than did those who received non-carbapenem antibacterials. Moreover, on multivariate analysis carbapenem use was found to be independently associated with decreased mortality.

The impact of ESBL production on mortality from bacteraemia caused by Enterobacteriaceae had also been studied in a recent meta-analysis by Schwaber and Carmeli,^[88] and they found a significantly increased rate of mortality in the ESBL group (pooled relative risk [RR] 1.85; 95% CI 1.39, 2.47). The same study demonstrated an increased RR for delayed effective therapy (pooled RR 5.36; 95% CI 2.73, 10.53). The increased mortality observed in patients with bloodstream infections can be contrasted with the findings of eight additional studies, all of which also included patients with types of infections other than bloodstream infections. Among those studies, increased mortality was found in only one, although a tendency toward a higher rate of mortality in the ESBL group could be observed in some of the studies. Six of seven studies found increased length of hospital stay for patients with extendedspectrum cephalosporin-resistant isolates, while increased cost was found in the three studies that considered this parameter.

The studies consistently show that infections due to ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae are associated with a delay in initiation of appropriate antimicrobial therapy, which consequently prolongs hospital stays and increases hospital costs.^[89] More importantly, failure to initiate appropriate antimicrobial therapy from the start appears to be responsible for higher patient mortality.^[90,91]

3. Treatment of Infections Caused by ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae

3.1 Introduction

The presence of ESBLs complicates antimicrobial selection especially in patients with serious infections such as bacteraemia. The reason for this is that ESBL-producing bacteria are often multiresistant to various antimicrobials, and an interesting feature of CTX-M-producing isolates is the co-resistance to the fluoroquinolones.^[15] Antimicrobials that are regularly used for empirical therapy of serious community-onset infections, such as the third-generation cephalosporins (e.g. cefotaxime and ceftriaxone), are often not effective against ESBL-producing bacteria.^[87] This multiple drug resistance has major implications for selection of adequate empirical therapy regimens. Empirical therapy is prescribed at the time when an infection is clinically diagnosed while awaiting the results of cultures and antimicrobial susceptibility profiles. Multiple studies in a wide range of settings, clinical syndromes and organisms have shown that failure or delay in adequate therapy results in an adverse mortality outcome. This is also true of infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria.^[88] A major challenge when selecting an empirical regimen is to choose an agent that has adequate activity against the infecting organism(s). Empirical antimicrobial choices should be individualized based on institutional antibiograms that tend to be quite different from hospital to hospital, city to city and country to country.

The next issue surrounding the therapy of ESBL-producing infections is that even if an agent is selected that has *in vitro* activity against the bacteria (when tested in the laboratory), clinical *in vivo* efficacy in patients is not always guaranteed. Several studies have noted a reduction in clinical effect against ESBL-producing

bacteria with some β -lactam agents despite testing susceptible *in vitro*, while other studies have shown good clinical outcome with β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations.^[92] This is widely believed to occur as a result of the so-called inoculum effect that occurs when the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of the antibacterial rises (i.e. the antibacterial loses activity) with the increasing size of the inoculum (or number) of bacteria tested. This has been described for cephalosporins, β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations (e.g. piperacillin/tazobactam and less with amoxicillin/clavulanic acid^[93]) and to a lesser extent with the fluoroquinolones.^[94]

The cephamycins, including cefoxitin and cefotetan, are stable to hydrolysis by ESBLproducing Enterobacteriaceae and demonstrate susceptibility. However, there is a general reluctance to use these agents because of the relative ease by which some isolates may decrease the expression of outer membrane proteins, creating resistance to these agents during therapy.^[95]

As a result of these major concerns, the carbapenems, including imipenem, meropenem, doripenem and ertapenem, have become widely recognized as the drug class of first choice for the treatment of serious infections due to ESBLproducing Enterobacteriaceae. This has occurred because these agents are highly stable to hydrolysis by ESBLs, their distribution into body tissues in high concentrations and there is a lack of the inoculum effect.^[96] Potential drawbacks of their use include high cost, the necessity for the parenteral route of administration, and wide spectrum of activity that may promote infections with yeasts and bacteria with the potential selection of carbapenem-resistant variants.^[97]

3.2 Susceptibility of Enterobacteriaceae that Produce ESBLs

ESBLs have the ability to hydrolyse and cause resistance to the majority of β -lactam antibacterials including the penicillins, cephalosporins and monobactams. The degree of hydrolytic activity against the third-generation cephalosporins may be different for the genotypes of ESBLs. For example, the TEM and SHV types of ESBLs sometimes have greater activity against ceftazidime than cefotaxime, while the majority of the CTX-M type of ESBLs have greater activity against cefotaxime and ceftriaxone.^[2] Consequently, ESBL-producing organisms may appear susceptible *in vitro* to some of the cephalosporins. The Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) from the US recommends that ESBLproducing E. coli, K. pneumoniae, K. oxytoca and Proteus mirabilis should be reported as resistant to penicillins, cephalosporins and monobactams regardless of the *in vitro* susceptibility data.^[98] These guidelines include the fourth-generation cephalosporin cefepime that often tests sensitive against ESBL-producing bacteria. The CLSI has just published in 2010 new cephalosporin susceptibility breakpoints for Enterobacteriaceae.

An important factor that limits the array of active antimicrobials against ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae is the frequent co-expression of resistance by these organisms to classes of antimicrobial agents other than those hydrolysed by the ESBLs. This has been shown for fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides, tetracyclines (excluding glycylcyclines) and cotrimoxazole.^[2] Resistance to the carbapenems has only rarely been reported in isolated cases.^[99] The rates of resistance of ESBL-producing *E. coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. to different non- β -lactam antimicrobial agents (excluding the β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations) from different parts of the world are summarized in table II.^[8,36,44,56,100-103]

3.3 Specific Agents for the Treatment of Infections Caused by ESBL-Producing Enterobacteriaceae

3.3.1 Carbapenems

The carbapenems are considered to be the treatment of choice against serious infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria.^[96] Several studies have highlighted the clinical effectiveness and superior outcomes of serious infections treated with the carbapenems. Endimiani et al.^[104] investigated 35 cases of bloodstream infections caused by TEM-52-producing *K. pneumoniae*. Twenty-eight cases were investigated with regard to response to treatment with ciprofloxacin or

Pitout

Antimicrobial agent	Nonsusceptibility (i.e. intermediate or resistance) [%]	Inoculum effect ^a	
Piperacillin/tazobactam	0–53	Yes	
Amoxicillin/clavulanic acid	37–>80	Yes ^b	
Gentamicin	9–67	No	
Tobramycin	14–72	No	
Amikacin	5–27	No	
Ciprofloxacin	62–>90	Yes	
Cotrimoxazole	25–>90	No	
Nitrofurantoin	6–29	?	
Fosfomycin	1–9	?	
Tigecycline	0–1	?	
Temocillin	<10	?	

Table II. Rates of resistance of extended-spectrum β -lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. to different non- β -lactam antimicrobial agents (excluding the β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations)

a Inoculum effect occurs when the minimum inhibitory concentration of the antimicrobial rises with the increasing size of the inoculum of bacteria tested.

b The inoculum effect described with amoxicillin/clavulanic acid is less than with piperacillin/tazobactam.

? indicates unknown.

imipenem/cilastatin. Ten patients were treated with imipenem/cilastatin, two failed to respond, while in the ciprofloxacin group, five of seven patients failed to respond to therapy, although the bacteria were classified as susceptible to ciprofloxacin. The authors also noted an inoculum effect with ciprofloxacin.

In an international study involving 12 hospitals in seven countries over a period of 2 years, Paterson et al.^[87] prospectively collected data on 455 episodes of K. pneumoniae bacteraemia, and 85 episodes were caused by ESBL-producing isolates. Treatment with a carbapenem, most often imipenem/cilastatin, was associated with significantly lower 14-day mortality than treatment with other *in vitro* active antibacterials. Several other studies are also supportive of the effectiveness of the carbapenems.^[35,105] In addition, in a small clinical trial, the use of ertapenem for the treatment of 20 patients with early-onset ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae resulted in a clinical success rate of 80%.^[106]

It is important to note that development of resistance during therapy to ertapenem (due to the production of CTX-M-15 and the loss of porin OmpK36 in *K. pneumoniae*) and imipenem (due to CMY-2 and the loss of porins OmpF and OmpC in *E. coli*) has been described pre-

viously.^[107,108] Resistance to ertapenem has been described in *Klebsiella* spp. and *Enterobacter* spp. due to the production of various types of ESBLs and AmpC β -lactamases as well as the concurrent loss of porins.^[109,110]

3.3.2 Cephalosporins

The second- and third-generation cephalosporins are not considered to be options for the treatment of infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria. With infections due to ESBL-producing strains of Enterobacteriaceae, it is known that the MIC and therefore the time over the MIC for β -lactams will predict outcome. Therefore, pharmacodynamic modelling has been used to set breakpoints for ESBL-producing bacteria with β -lactams that are generally much lower than existing breakpoints.^[111]

In a retrospective study of consecutive patients, those treated with imipenem/cilastatin for nosocomial bloodstream infection due to ESBLproducing *E. coli* or *K. pneumoniae* were significantly more likely to survive than were such patients treated with a third-generation cephalosporin.^[112] Previous treatment with a thirdgeneration cephalosporin was shown to be an independent risk factor for bloodstream infection caused by ESBL-producing bacteria. This observation led the investigators to conclude that more cautious use of third-generation cephalosporins might even be important for preventing bacteraemia due to ESBL-producing *E. coli* or *K. pneumoniae*.

Infectious disease physicians have been contemplating if ceftazidime will be effective for the treatment of infections caused by CTX-Mproducing organisms that show sufficient in vitro susceptibilities. Bin and colleagues^[113] have tried to address this important issue. They performed a prospective observational study of 22 patients with CTX-M-producing E. coli bloodstream infections over a period of 3 years; seven patients were treated with ceftazidime, eight with imipenem/ cilastatin and seven with cefoperazone/sulbactam. The patients had comparable demographic characteristics, and the treatment success ratios were similar between the three groups and none of the patients died. Some interesting findings of this study included that successful therapy in the three different groups was expedited with additional treatment modalities such as urinary drainage, mucolytics and drainage of abscesses, and patients with bacteraemia due to peritonitis failed to respond to therapy irrespective of the type of antibacterial used. The study suggests that patients infected with CTX-M-producing E. coli sensitive to ceftazidime can be successfully treated with this agent, although this needs to be confirmed with a randomized, blinded study.

Cefepime is a fourth-generation cephalosporin that shows improved activity (compared with other cephalosporins) against some bacteria that produce ESBLs. In vitro studies have confirmed that ESBL-producing organisms are generally susceptible to the antimicrobial action of cefepime,^[114] suggesting that cefepime may be of clinical value for the treatment of some infections caused by bacterial strains that are resistant to third-generation cephalosporins. In addition to its in vitro activity, the pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic properties of cefepime appear to contribute to and support its bactericidal activity.[115] Zanetti et al.[116] reported on a randomized, controlled, multicentre trial comparing cefepime with imipenem for the treatment of nosocomial pneumonia in ICU patients. Although this was not designed as an ESBL-producing organism treatment study, a subgroup analysis revealed that among 23 patients with ESBLproducing infections, 4 of 13 cefepime-treated patients compared with none of ten imipenem/ cilastatin-treated patients failed to respond to therapy as defined by clinical criteria. In all of these cases, the isolated organisms were susceptible to cefepime using CLSI breakpoints.

3.3.3 Cephamycins

The majority of clinicians avoid the use of cephamycins in the treatment of infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria because of in vivo selection of cephamycin-resistant impermeability mutants especially when using the older drugs such as cefoxitin.^[95] However, Lee et al.^[117] from Taiwan evaluated a new cephamycin, flomoxef, in a retrospective study and compared the clinical efficacy of this agent with that of the carbapenems meropenem and imipenem for the treatment of infections caused by ESBL-producing K. pneumoniae. They included 27 patients in this study and their results suggest that flomoxef was as clinically effective as the carbapenems. Unfortunately, this study lacked the power to discriminate real differences in outcome between the groups, but does provide insight into the possibility of using a cephamycin for infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria.

3.3.4 β-Lactam/β-Lactamase Inhibitor Combinations

The available clinical evidence regarding the usefulness of β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations for the treatment of infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria is limited. Tumbarello et al.^[118] evaluated the treatment outcomes in 48 cases of infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria compared with 99 control cases. The rate of treatment failure in the patients infected with ESBL producers was nearly twice that of the controls (31% vs 17%) and the 21-day mortality rates were 52% and 29%, respectively. Therapy that led to a successful outcome was observed with a carbapenem in 33% of the cases, an aminoglycoside in 22%, a fluoroquinolone in 17% and a β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combination

Gavin et al.^[119] reported a similar outcome when using piperacillin/tazobactam for infections due to ESBL-producing *E. coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. from seven medical centres across North America. The authors observed that meropenem therapy was successful in only two of four infections due to piperacillin/tazobactam-resistant isolates, illustrating that sometimes the carbapenems are not effective in the treatment of non-UTIs caused by ESBL-producing bacteria.

(piperacillin/tazobactam) in 28% of cases. This

study suggested a successful outcome could be

expected when the in vitro testing indicated sus-

Recently, Rodríguez-Baño et al.^[120] analysed the outcome of 43 episodes of *E. coli* bacteraemia caused by ESBL-producing isolates (most often producing CTX-M-14). Mortality was lower when patients were given a β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor or a carbapenem, compared with either a cephalosporin or fluoroquinolone (9% vs 35%; p=0.05).

Another study by Rodríguez-Baño et al.^[121] evaluated the use of amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in a series of 37 patients with cystitis caused by ESBL-producing *E. coli*. The overall cure rate was 84%; however, the effectiveness of this drug combination appeared to be significantly lower in a subgroup of patients infected with isolates having elevated MIC values to this drug. A case report has also been published that showed successful treatment with amoxicillin/clavulanic acid of UTI caused by an amoxicillin/clavulanic acid-resistant *E. coli*.^[122]

Various authors have also reported ecological supporting evidence for the activity of β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor combinations against ESBL-producing bacteria, i.e. use of these agents as a replacement for extended-spectrum cephalosporins as part of a formulary strategy to, over a period, lower the prevalence of ESBL-producing Gram-negative bacilli in healthcare settings.^[92] The change of antimicrobial agent prescribing habits to increase the use of β -lactam/ β -lactamase inhibitor compounds that then led to a significant reduction of infections due to ESBL-producing Gram-negative bacteria, strongly suggests that these compounds have a useful ecological

impact on the overall reduction of infections due to ESBL-producing bacteria.^[92]

The existing data suggest that piperacillin/ tazobactam may be a useful agent for the treatment of some infections with ESBL-producing pathogens. However, this potential recommendation must be interpreted cautiously, because it is based on a relatively small database of information. Definitive conclusions regarding the efficacy of piperacillin/tazobactam for the treatment of infections caused by bacteria that produce ESBLs must await large-scale, prospective, randomized clinical trials.

3.3.5 Aminoglycosides

Resistance to the aminoglycosides in ESBLproducing organisms has always been an issue for clinicians, since ESBLs are often located on large plasmids that harbour genes for resistance to other antimicrobial classes, especially gentamicin and tobramycin. Resistance to the aminoglycosides was exacerbated recently with the worldwide emergence of CTX-M-15-producing E. coli in the community setting. CTX-M-15 has often been associated with co-production of the aminoglycoside-modifying enzyme aac(6')-Ib-cr that has the ability to inactivate tobramycin and amikacin.^[29] Among the different aminoglycosides available in clinical practice, susceptibility to amikacin is highest among bacteria that produce ESBLs.^[102] The limited success of aminoglycosides in treating bacteraemias caused by ESBL-producing K. pneumoniae has been demonstrated in a study from Korea.^[123] Kim et al.^[123] studied all cases of ESBL-producing E. coli and K. pneumoniae bacteraemia infections occurring in children at the Seoul National Children's Hospital. Of 36 infections caused by organisms that produce ESBLs, only 7 of 15 patients treated with appropriate aminoglycoside therapy had a sufficient clinical response.

3.3.6 Fluoroquinolones

Resistance to the fluoroquinolones has reached immense proportions in CTX-M-producing Enterobacteriaceae, with rates of resistance reported ranging from 55% to 100% from different areas of the world.^[124] Therefore, the fluoroquinolones have a very limited role in treating infection caused by ESBL-producing bacteria. However, the fluoroquinolones remain an option if the isolate tested is susceptible to these agents.^[15]

3.3.7 Other Agents

Fosfomycin is a bactericidal antibacterial that acts as a cell-wall inhibitor by interfering with the first step in peptidoglycan biosynthesis. It has a broad spectrum of activity and resistance in clinical isolates is rare.^[100] After many years of use, fosfomycin continues to be active against the most common uropathogens and there is a very low incidence of resistant strains in E. coli (about 2%). In a recent survey conducted in Spain, among the 428 ESBL-producing isolates studied, 417 (97.4%) were susceptible to fosfomycin (MIC $\leq 64 \text{ mg/L}$). The resistance rate of ESBL-positive E. coli to fosfomycin was 0.3%, whereas the resistance rate of ESBL-positive K. pneumoniae was 7.2%.^[125] These results are similar to those described in previous reports of non-ESBLproducing isolates, confirming that fosfomycin retains its activity against ESBL-producing isolates, and that cross-resistance with other classes of antimicrobial agents is rare at present. Also, there were no differences in fosfomycin activity against strains expressing different types of ESBL.^[125] Other recent surveys in other parts of the world confirm the activity of fosfomycin against ESBLproducing E. coli.^[100] The use of fosfomycin has increased dramatically in certain countries and it has become the first choice for uncomplicated cystitis.^[126] Unfortunately, very limited data are available about the use of fosfomycin for infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria. A study by Rodríguez-Baño et al.[121] provided observational results for the successful treatment of cystitis with fosfomycin due to fosfomycin-susceptible ESBL-producing E. coli. Furthermore, susceptibility data suggest this agent might be a viable option to treat uncomplicated UTIs due to ESBL-producing bacteria. Unfortunately, a recent report from Spain described acquired resistance to fosfomycin in E. coli clone ST131.^[127]

Nitrofurantoin is a synthetic nitrofuran antimicrobial agent that has been available in clinical practice for more than 50 years. It still has a role and continues to be prescribed, particularly in the ambulatory setting, for uncomplicated UTIs.^[100] Susceptibility breakpoints are based on urinary concentrations of nitrofurantoin and have been correlated with eradication of bacteriuria in patients with UTIs. The rate of resistance to nitrofurantoin in 115 clinical isolates of E. coli that produce ESBLs from Spain was 29%;^[103] however, resistance rates as low as 7% were reported from Canada.^[83] Nitrofurantoin is restricted to treatment or prevention of uncomplicated cystitis; and is an option for the treatment of uncomplicated UTIs due to ESBL-producing bacteria. Because responses to this agent and infections caused by susceptible pathogens may be less satisfactory and require longer courses of therapy, nitrofurantoin is considered to be an alternative rather than a first-line therapeutic agent for this clinical syndrome.^[100]

Tigecycline, a derivative of minocycline, is the first member of the glycylcycline class of antimicrobials available for clinical use. It has the property to evade common mechanisms of resistance to tetracyclines expressed in Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria.^[128] Tigecycline has shown excellent activity against ESBL-producing *E. coli* isolates; especially those producing CTX-M enzymes.^[101,102] Clinical data regarding the effectiveness of tigecycline against infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria are rare at present, and the concentration of the drug in urine is not sufficient to treat UTIs.

Other agents such as temocillin, pivmecillinam and colistin show good *in vitro* activity against ESBL-producing bacteria.^[129] However, clinical data on the use of these drugs for infections caused by ESBL-producing bacteria are not available at present. Temocillin, a derivative of ticarcillin, is resistant to hydrolysis by most ESBLs and to AmpC β -lactamases. It is also chemically stable, allowing administration by continuous infusion.^[130] A recent *in vitro* study from Belgium^[131] reported that temocillin was active against most AmpC- and ESBL-producing isolates, and a case report described successful treatment with temocillin of a spinal infection due to an ESBL-producing *K. pneumoniae*.^[132]

327

A case report described a woman with relapsing pyelonephritis due to a CTX-M-producing *E. coli* who was cured with a prolonged course of oral pivmecillinam.^[133]

4. Summary and Conclusions

Antimicrobial resistance is an important issue affecting public health and rapid detection in clinical laboratories is essential for the prompt recognition of antimicrobial-resistant organisms. Infection control practitioners and clinicians need the clinical laboratory to rapidly identify and characterize different types of resistant bacteria efficiently to minimize the spread of these bacteria and help to select more appropriate antibacterials. This is also true for ESBL-producing bacteria. It is clear that the epidemiology of ESBL-producing bacteria is becoming more complex with increasingly blurred limits between hospitals and the community. E. coli producing CTX-M β -lactamases (especially CTX-M-15) seem to be true community ESBL producers with different behaviour from Klebsiella spp. producing TEM- and SHV-derived ESBLs. These bacteria have become widely prevalent in the community setting in certain areas of the world and they are most likely being imported into the hospital setting.

Molecular epidemiology studies suggested that the sudden worldwide increase of CTX-M-15-producing E. coli is mostly due to a single clone named ST131 and that foreign travel to high-risk areas such as the Indian subcontinent might play in part a role in the spread of this clone across different continents. Empirical antibacterial coverage for these resistant organisms should be considered in community patients presenting with sepsis involving the urinary tract, especially if a patient recently travelled to a highrisk area. There is a serious need to monitor the spread of this multidrug-resistant clone throughout the world, and there are methods available for the rapid and easy identification of clone ST131. Internationally funded efforts should be undertaken to track and monitor the worldwide spread of ST131 E. coli producing CTX-M-β-lactamases within the hospital and community settings. If this emerging public health threat is ignored it is possible that clinicians may be forced to use the carbapenems as the first choice for the empirical



Fig. 2. Recent evolution of pandemics caused by bacteria that produce β-lactamases, especially extended-spectrum β-lactamases (ESBLs).

Table III. Antimicrobial agents for the treatment of Enterobacteriaceae that produce extended-spectrum β-lactamases

Type of infection	Origin	First-line therapy	Alternative therapy ^a
Systemic (primary bacteraemia, pneumonia, intra-abdominal sepsis, complicated UTI [urosepsis])	Community-onset	Ertapenem	Amikacin
Systemic (primary bacteraemia, pneumonia, intra-abdominal sepsis, complicated UTI [urosepsis])	Nosocomial	Imipenem/cilastatin or meropenem	Amikacin
Uncomplicated UTI	Community-onset	Fosfomycin ^b	Nitrofurantoin, ^b amoxicillin/clavulanic acid
Uncomplicated UTI	Nosocomial	Fosfomycin ^b	Nitrofurantoin, ^b amoxicillin/clavulanic acid

a It is appropriate to have the in vitro susceptibility test result available.

b Fosfomycin and nitrofurantoin are not reliably active against other non-Escherichia coli uropathogens.

UTI = urinary tract infection.

treatment of serious infections associated with UTIs that originate from the community. The recent evolution of pandemics caused by bacteria that produce different β -lactamases (especially ESBLs) is illustrated in figure 2.

The carbapenems are widely regarded as the drugs of choice for the treatment of severe infections due to ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae. It is reasonable to suggest the use of ertapenem for community-onset infections and imipenem/ cilastatin, meropenem or doripenem for hospitalonset infections. Research is warranted to determine if significant clinical differences exist among the carbapenems and to define the optimal therapy of less severe infections due to ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Agents such as nitrofurantoin and fosfomycin show good in vitro activity against ESBL-producing bacteria and are options for the treatment of uncomplicated UTIs due to these multidrug-resistant bacteria. Antimicrobial options for the treatment of infections caused by Enterobacteriaceae that produce ESBLs are summarized in table III.

Future investigations should be undertaken to study the microbiological and ecological factors that make CTX-M-producing *E. coli* such successful pathogens. This will help to prevent future infections caused by these medically important pathogens.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used in the preparation of this manuscript. The author has previously received funding from Wyeth (Canada) and Merck (Canada) for research projects.

References

- 1. Jacoby GA, Munoz-Price LS. The new beta-lactamases. N Engl J Med 2005 Jan 27; 352 (4): 380-91
- Paterson DL, Bonomo RA. Extended-spectrum betalactamases: a clinical update. Clin Microbiol Rev 2005 Oct; 18 (4): 657-86
- Nicolas-Chanoine MH, Jarlier V. Extended-spectrum betalactamases in long-term-care facilities. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 111-6
- Schwaber MJ, Navon-Venezia S, Kaye KS, et al. Clinical and economic impact of bacteremia with extendedspectrum-beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Apr; 50 (4): 1257-62
- Tumbarello M, Sanguinetti M, Montuori E, et al. Predictors of mortality in patients with bloodstream infections caused by extended-spectrum-beta-lactamaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae: importance of inadequate initial antimicrobial treatment. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007 Jun; 51 (6): 1987-94
- Pitout JD, Nordmann P, Laupland KB, et al. Emergence of Enterobacteriaceae producing extended-spectrum betalactamases (ESBLs) in the community. J Antimicrob Chemother 2005 Jul; 56 (1): 52-9
- Hawser SP, Bouchillon SK, Hoban DJ, et al. *In vitro* susceptibilities of aerobic and facultative anaerobic Gramnegative bacilli from patients with intra-abdominal infections worldwide from 2005–2007: results from the SMART study. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2009 Dec; 34 (6): 585-8
- Hawser SP, Bouchillon SK, Hoban DJ, et al. Emergence of high levels of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing gram-negative bacilli in the Asia-Pacific region: data from the Study for Monitoring Antimicrobial Resistance Trends (SMART) program, 2007. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Aug; 53 (8): 3280-4
- Herzer PJ, Inouye S, Inouye M, et al. Phylogenetic distribution of branched RNA-linked multicopy singlestranded DNA among natural isolates of *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 1990 Nov; 172 (11): 6175-81
- Johnson JR, Delavari P, Kuskowski M, et al. Phylogenetic distribution of extraintestinal virulence-associated traits in *Escherichia coli*. J Infect Dis 2001 Jan 1; 183 (1): 78-88
- Canton R, Coque TM. The CTX-M beta-lactamase pandemic. Curr Opin Microbiol 2006 Oct; 9 (5): 466-75

- Talbot GH, Bradley J, Edwards Jr JE, et al. Bad bugs need drugs: an update on the development pipeline from the Antimicrobial Availability Task Force of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Mar 1; 42 (5): 657-68
- Matsumoto Y, Ikeda F, Kamimura T, et al. Novel plasmidmediated beta-lactamase from *Escherichia coli* that inactivates oxyimino-cephalosporins. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1988 Aug; 32 (8): 1243-6
- Radice M, Power P, Di Conza J, et al. Early dissemination of CTX-M-derived enzymes in South America. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002 Feb; 46 (2): 602-4
- Pitout JD, Laupland KB. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: an emerging public-health concern. Lancet Infect Dis 2008 Mar; 8 (3): 159-66
- Rossolini GM, D'Andrea MM, Mugnaioli C. The spread of CTX-M-type extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 33-41
- Poirel L, Lartigue MF, Decousser JW, et al. ISEcp1Bmediated transposition of blaCTX-M in *Escherichia coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005 Jan; 49 (1): 447-50
- Poirel L, Naas T, Nordmann P. Genetic support of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 75-81
- Poirel L, Decousser JW, Nordmann P. Insertion sequence ISEcp1B is involved in expression and mobilization of a bla(CTX-M) beta-lactamase gene. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003 Sep; 47 (9): 2938-45
- Carattoli A. Resistance plasmid families in Enterobacteriaceae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Jun; 53 (6): 2227-38
- Bonnet R. Growing group of extended-spectrum betalactamases: the CTX-M enzymes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004 Jan; 48 (1): 1-14
- 22. Poirel L, Gniadkowski M, Nordmann P. Biochemical analysis of the ceftazidime-hydrolysing extendedspectrum beta-lactamase CTX-M-15 and of its structurally related beta-lactamase CTX-M-3. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002 Dec; 50 (6): 1031-4
- Laupland KB, Church DL, Vidakovich J, et al. Community-onset extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) producing *Escherichia coli*: importance of international travel. J Infect 2008 Dec; 57 (6): 441-8
- Rodriguez-Bano J, Navarro MD. Extended-spectrum betalactamases in ambulatory care: a clinical perspective. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 104-10
- 25. Pitout JD, Church DL, Gregson DB, et al. Molecular epidemiology of CTX-M-producing *Escherichia coli* in the Calgary Health Region: emergence of CTX-M-15producing isolates. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007 Apr; 51 (4): 1281-6
- 26. Karim A, Poirel L, Nagarajan S, et al. Plasmid-mediated extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (CTX-M-3 like) from India and gene association with insertion sequence ISEcp1. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2001 Jul 24; 201 (2): 237-41
- Novais A, Canton R, Moreira R, et al. Emergence and dissemination of Enterobacteriaceae isolates producing CTX-M-1-like enzymes in Spain are associated with IncFII (CTX-M-15) and broad-host-range (CTX-M-1, -3,

and -32) plasmids. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007 Feb; 51 (2): 796-9

- Boyd DA, Tyler S, Christianson S, et al. Complete nucleotide sequence of a 92-kilobase plasmid harboring the CTX-M-15 extended-spectrum beta-lactamase involved in an outbreak in long-term-care facilities in Toronto, Canada. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004 Oct; 48 (10): 3758-64
- Robicsek A, Strahilevitz J, Jacoby GA, et al. Fluoroquinolone-modifying enzyme: a new adaptation of a common aminoglycoside acetyltransferase. Nat Med 2006 Jan; 12 (1): 83-8
- Livermore DM, Canton R, Gniadkowski M, et al. CTX-M: changing the face of ESBLs in Europe. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007 Feb; 59 (2): 165-74
- Hawkey PM. Prevalence and clonality of extendedspectrum beta-lactamases in Asia. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 159-65
- 32. Lewis 2nd JS, Herrera M, Wickes B, et al. First report of the emergence of CTX-M-type extended-spectrum betalactamases (ESBLs) as the predominant ESBL isolated in a U.S. health care system. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007 Nov; 51 (11): 4015-21
- 33. Mulvey MR, Bryce E, Boyd D, et al. Ambler class A extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. in Canadian hospitals. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004 Apr; 48 (4): 1204-14
- Villegas MV, Kattan JN, Quinteros MG, et al. Prevalence of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in South America. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 154-8
- Zong Z, Partridge SR, Thomas L, et al. Dominance of blaCTX-M within an Australian extended-spectrum betalactamase gene pool. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008 Nov; 52 (11): 4198-202
- Canton R, Novais A, Valverde A, et al. Prevalence and spread of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in Europe. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 144-53
- Ensor VM, Shahid M, Evans JT, et al. Occurrence, prevalence and genetic environment of CTX-M betalactamases in Enterobacteriaceae from Indian hospitals. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006 Dec; 58 (6): 1260-3
- Gupta V, Datta P. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases (ESBL) in community isolates from North India: frequency and predisposing factors. Int J Infect Dis 2007 Jan; 11 (1): 88-9
- Moubareck C, Daoud Z, Hakime NI, et al. Countrywide spread of community- and hospital-acquired extendedspectrum beta-lactamase (CTX-M-15)-producing Enterobacteriaceae in Lebanon. J Clin Microbiol 2005 Jul; 43 (7): 3309-13
- Blomberg B, Jureen R, Manji KP, et al. High rate of fatal cases of pediatric septicemia caused by gram-negative bacteria with extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. J Clin Microbiol 2005 Feb; 43 (2): 745-9
- Gangoue-Pieboji J, Miriagou V, Vourli S, et al. Emergence of CTX-M-15-producing enterobacteria in Cameroon and characterization of a blaCTX-M-15-carrying element. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005 Jan; 49 (1): 441-3

- Mamlouk K, Boutiba-Ben Boubaker I, Gautier V, et al. Emergence and outbreaks of CTX-M beta-lactamaseproducing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strains in a Tunisian hospital. J Clin Microbiol 2006 Nov; 44 (11): 4049-56
- 43. Touati A, Benallaoua S, Djoudi F, et al. Characterization of CTX-M-15-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from hospital environments in Algeria. Microb Drug Resist 2007 Summer; 13 (2): 85-9
- 44. Bush K. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in North America, 1987–2006. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 134-43
- 45. Moland ES, Black JA, Hossain A, et al. Discovery of CTX-M-like extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in *Escherichia coli* isolates from five US States. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003 Jul; 47 (7): 2382-3
- 46. Castanheira M, Mendes RE, Rhomberg PR, et al. Rapid emergence of blaCTX-M among Enterobacteriaceae in U.S. Medical Centers: molecular evaluation from the MYSTIC Program (2007). Microb Drug Resist 2008 Sep; 14 (3): 211-6
- 47. Pitout JD, Laupland KB, Church DL, et al. Virulence factors of *Escherichia coli* isolates that produce CTX-Mtype extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005 Nov; 49 (11): 4667-70
- Pallecchi L, Malossi M, Mantella A, et al. Detection of CTX-M-type beta-lactamase genes in fecal *Escherichia coli* isolates from healthy children in Bolivia and Peru. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004 Dec; 48 (12): 4556-61
- Valenzuela de Silva EM, Mantilla Anaya JR, Reguero Reza MT, et al. Detection of CTX-M-1, CTX-M-15, and CTX-M-2 in clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae in Bogota, Colombia. J Clin Microbiol 2006 May; 44 (5): 1919-20
- 50. Edelstein M, Pimkin M, Palagin I, et al. Prevalence and molecular epidemiology of CTX-M extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in Russian hospitals. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003 Dec; 47 (12): 3724-32
- Woodford N, Ward ME, Kaufmann ME, et al. Community and hospital spread of *Escherichia coli* producing CTX-M extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in the UK. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004 Oct; 54 (4): 735-43
- 52. Oteo J, Navarro C, Cercenado E, et al. Spread of *Escherichia coli* strains with high-level cefotaxime and ceftazidime resistance between the community, long-term care facilities, and hospital institutions. J Clin Microbiol 2006 Jul; 44 (7): 2359-66
- 53. Eisner A, Fagan EJ, Feierl G, et al. Emergence of Enterobacteriaceae isolates producing CTX-M extendedspectrum beta-lactamase in Austria. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Feb; 50 (2): 785-7
- Mugnaioli C, Luzzaro F, De Luca F, et al. CTX-M-type extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in Italy: molecular epidemiology of an emerging countrywide problem. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Aug; 50 (8): 2700-6
- 55. Mendonca N, Leitao J, Manageiro V, et al. Spread of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase CTX-M-producing *Escherichia coli* clinical isolates in community and nosocomial environments in Portugal. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007 Jun; 51 (6): 1946-55

- 56. Galas M, Decousser JW, Breton N, et al. Nationwide study of the prevalence, characteristics, and molecular epidemiology of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in France. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008 Feb; 52 (2): 786-9
- 57. Fang H, Ataker F, Hedin G, et al. Molecular epidemiology of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases among *Escherichia coli* isolates collected in a Swedish hospital and its associated health care facilities from 2001 to 2006. J Clin Microbiol 2008 Feb; 46 (2): 707-12
- Tenover FC, Arbeit RD, Goering RV, et al. Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. J Clin Microbiol 1995 Sep; 33 (9): 2233-9
- Lavollay M, Mamlouk K, Frank T, et al. Clonal dissemination of a CTX-M-15 beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* strain in the Paris area, Tunis, and Bangui. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Jul; 50 (7): 2433-8
- 60. Gonullu N, Aktas Z, Kayacan CB, et al. Dissemination of CTX-M-15 beta-lactamase genes carried on Inc FI and FII plasmids among clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli* in a university hospital in Istanbul, Turkey. J Clin Microbiol 2008 Mar; 46 (3): 1110-2
- Marcade G, Deschamps C, Boyd A, et al. Replicon typing of plasmids in *Escherichia coli* producing extendedspectrum beta-lactamases. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Jan; 63 (1): 67-71
- Coque TM, Novais A, Carattoli A, et al. Dissemination of clonally related *Escherichia coli* strains expressing extended-spectrum beta-lactamase CTX-M-15. Emerg Infect Dis 2008 Feb; 14 (2): 195-200
- Nicolas-Chanoine MH, Blanco J, Leflon-Guibout V, et al. Intercontinental emergence of *Escherichia coli* clone O25: H4-ST131 producing CTX-M-15. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008 Feb; 61 (2): 273-81
- Sullivan CB, Diggle MA, Clarke SC. Multilocus sequence typing: data analysis in clinical microbiology and public health. Mol Biotechnol 2005 Mar; 29 (3): 245-54
- 65. Lau SH, Cheesborough J, Kaufmann ME, et al. Rapid identification of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* of the O25:H4-ST131 clonal lineage using the DiversiLab repetitive sequence-based PCR system. Clin Microbiol Infect. Epub 2009 Mar 21
- 66. Pitout JD, Campbell L, Church DL, et al. Using a commercial DiversiLab semiautomated repetitive sequence-based PCR typing technique for identification of *Escherichia coli* clone ST131 producing CTX-M-15. J Clin Microbiol 2009 Apr; 47 (4): 1212-5
- Clermont O, Dhanji H, Upton M, et al. Rapid detection of the O25b-ST131 clone of *Escherichia coli* encompassing the CTX-M-15-producing strains. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Aug; 64 (2): 274-7
- Johnson JR, Menard M, Johnston B, et al. Epidemic clonal groups of *Escherichia coli* as a cause of antimicrobialresistant urinary tract infections in Canada, 2002 to 2004. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Jul; 53 (7): 2733-9
- Blanco M, Alonso MP, Nicolas-Chanoine MH, et al. Molecular epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* producing extended-spectrum {beta}-lactamases in Lugo (Spain):

dissemination of clone O25b:H4-ST131 producing CTX-M-15. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Jun; 63 (6): 1135-41

- Lau SH, Kaufmann ME, Livermore DM, et al. UK epidemic *Escherichia coli* strains A-E, with CTX-M-15 betalactamase, all belong to the international O25:H4-ST131 clone. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008 Dec; 62 (6): 1241-4
- Cagnacci S, Gualco L, Debbia E, et al. European emergence of ciprofloxacin-resistant *Escherichia coli* clonal groups O25:H4-ST 131 and O15:K52:H1 causing community-acquired uncomplicated cystitis. J Clin Microbiol 2008 Aug; 46 (8): 2605-12
- 72. Yumuk Z, Afacan G, Nicolas-Chanoine MH, et al. Turkey: a further country concerned by community-acquired *Escherichia coli* clone O25-ST131 producing CTX-M-15. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008 Aug; 62 (2): 284-8
- 73. Literacka E, Bedenic B, Baraniak A, et al. blaCTX-M genes in *Escherichia coli* strains from Croatian hospitals are located in new (blaCTX-M-3a) and widely spread (blaCTX-M-3a, blaCTX-M-15) genetic structures. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009; 53 (4): 1630-5
- 74. Suzuki S, Shibata N, Yamane K, et al. Change in the prevalence of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* in Japan by clonal spread. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Jan; 63 (1): 72-9
- 75. Johnson JR, Johnston BD, Jorgensen JH, et al., editors. CTX-M-15-producing *E. coli* in the United States: predominance of sequence type ST131 (O25:H4). Proceedings of the Forty-eighth Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. Washington (DC): American Society for Microbiology, 2008
- Naseer U, Haldorsen B, Tofteland S, et al. Molecular characterization of CTX-M-15-producing clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli* reveals the spread of multidrugresistant ST131 (O25:H4) and ST964 (O102:H6) strains in Norway. APMIS 2009 Jul; 117 (7): 526-36
- 77. Leflon-Guibout V, Blanco J, Amaqdouf K, et al. Absence of CTX-M enzymes but high prevalence of clones, including clone ST131, among fecal *Escherichia coli* isolates from healthy subjects living in the area of Paris, France. J Clin Microbiol 2008 Dec; 46 (12): 3900-5
- Arpin C, Quentin C, Grobost F, et al. Nationwide survey of extended-spectrum {beta}-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in the French community setting. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Jun; 63 (6): 1205-14
- 79. Oteo J, Diestra K, Juan C, et al. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* in Spain belong to a large variety of multilocus sequence typing types, including ST10 complex/A, ST23 complex/A and ST131/B2. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2009 Aug; 34 (2): 173-6
- Rooney PJ, O'Leary MC, Loughrey AC, et al. Nursing homes as a reservoir of extended-spectrum {beta}-lactamase (ESBL)-producing ciprofloxacin-resistant *Escherichia coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Sep; 64 (3): 635-41
- Pomba C, da Fonseca JD, Baptista BC, et al. Detection of the pandemic O25-ST131 human virulent *Escherichia coli* CTX-M-15-producing clone harboring the qnrB2 and aac(6')-Ib-cr genes in a dog. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Jan; 53 (1): 327-8
- Freeman JT, McBride SJ, Heffernan H, et al. Communityonset genitourinary tract infection due to CTX-M-15producing *Escherichia coli* among travelers to the Indian

subcontinent in New Zealand. Clin Infect Dis 2008 Sep 1; 47 (5): 689-92

- Pitout JD, Campbell L, Church DL, et al. Molecular characteristics of travel-related extended-spectrum-betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from the Calgary Health Region. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Jun; 53 (6): 2539-43
- 84. Pitout JD, Gregson DB, Campbell L, et al. Molecular characteristics of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamaseproducing *Escherichia coli* isolates causing bacteremia in the Calgary Health Region from 2000 to 2007: emergence of clone ST131 as a cause of community-acquired infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009 Jul; 53 (7): 2846-51
- Lee SY, Kotapati S, Kuti JL, et al. Impact of extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* species on clinical outcomes and hospital costs: a matched cohort study. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2006 Nov; 27 (11): 1226-32
- 86. Lautenbach E, Patel JB, Bilker WB, et al. Extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: risk factors for infection and impact of resistance on outcomes. Clin Infect Dis 2001 Apr 15; 32 (8): 1162-71
- Paterson DL, Ko WC, Von Gottberg A, et al. Antibiotic therapy for *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteremia: implications of production of extended-spectrum betalactamases. Clin Infect Dis 2004 Jul 1; 39 (1): 31-7
- Schwaber MJ, Carmeli Y. Mortality and delay in effective therapy associated with extended-spectrum beta-lactamase production in Enterobacteriaceae bacteraemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007 Nov; 60 (5): 913-20
- Giske CG, Monnet DL, Cars O, et al. Clinical and economic impact of common multidrug-resistant gramnegative bacilli. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008 Mar; 52 (3): 813-21
- Maragakis LL, Perencevich EN, Cosgrove SE. Clinical and economic burden of antimicrobial resistance. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2008 Oct; 6 (5): 751-63
- Slama TG. Gram-negative antibiotic resistance: there is a price to pay. Crit Care 2008; 12 Suppl. 4: S4
- 92. Peterson LR. Antibiotic policy and prescribing strategies for therapy of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: the role of piperacillin-tazobactam. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 181-4
- 93. Lopez-Cerero L, Picon E, Morillo C, et al. Comparative assessment of inoculum effects on the antimicrobial activity of amoxycillin-clavulanate and piperacillin-tazobactam with extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates. Clin Microbiol Infect. Epub 2009 Jul 15
- Thomson KS, Moland ES. Cefepime, piperacillintazobactam, and the inoculum effect in tests with extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2001 Dec; 45 (12): 3548-54
- Pangon B, Bizet C, Bure A, et al. *In vivo* selection of a cephamycin-resistant, porin-deficient mutant of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* producing a TEM-3 beta-lactamase. J Infect Dis 1989 May; 159 (5): 1005-6

- Paterson DL. Recommendation for treatment of severe infections caused by Enterobacteriaceae producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases (ESBLs). Clin Microbiol Infect 2000 Sep; 6 (9): 460-3
- 97. del Mar Tomas M, Cartelle M, Pertega S, et al. Hospital outbreak caused by a carbapenem-resistant strain of *Acinetobacter baumannii*: patient prognosis and risk-factors for colonisation and infection. Clin Microbiol Infect 2005 Jul; 11 (7): 540-6
- Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing: 18th informational supplement (CLSI document M100-S18). Wayne (PA): Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute, 2008
- Szabo D, Silveira F, Hujer AM, et al. Outer membrane protein changes and efflux pump expression together may confer resistance to ertapenem in *Enterobacter cloacae*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Aug; 50 (8): 2833-5
- 100. Garau J. Other antimicrobials of interest in the era of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases: fosfomycin, nitrofurantoin and tigecycline. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Jan; 14 Suppl. 1: 198-202
- 101. Morosini MI, Garcia-Castillo M, Coque TM, et al. Antibiotic coresistance in extended-spectrum-beta-lactamaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae and *in vitro* activity of tigecycline. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Aug; 50 (8): 2695-9
- 102. Pitout JD, Le P, Church DL, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility of well-characterised multiresistant CTX-Mproducing *Escherichia coli*: failure of automated systems to detect resistance to piperacillin/tazobactam. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2008 Oct; 32 (4): 333-8
- 103. Puerto AS, Fernandez JG, del Castillo D, et al. *In vitro* activity of beta-lactam and non-beta-lactam antibiotics in extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli*. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2006 Feb; 54 (2): 135-9
- 104. Endimiani A, Luzzaro F, Perilli M, et al. Bacteremia due to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates producing the TEM-52 extended-spectrum beta-lactamase: treatment outcome of patients receiving imipenem or ciprofloxacin. Clin Infect Dis 2004 Jan 15; 38 (2): 243-51
- 105. Wong-Beringer A, Hindler J, Loeloff M, et al. Molecular correlation for the treatment outcomes in bloodstream infections caused by *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* with reduced susceptibility to ceftazidime. Clin Infect Dis 2002 Jan 15; 34 (2): 135-46
- 106. Bassetti M, Righi E, Fasce R, et al. Efficacy of ertapenem in the treatment of early ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing organisms in an intensive care unit. J Antimicrob Chemother 2007 Aug; 60 (2): 433-5
- 107. Oteo J, Delgado-Iribarren A, Vega D, et al. Emergence of imipenem resistance in clinical *Escherichia coli* during therapy. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2008 Dec; 32 (6): 534-7
- 108. Skurnik D, Lasocki S, Bremont S, et al. Development of ertapenem resistance in a patient with mediastinitis caused by an extended-spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. J Med Microbiol. Epub 2009 Sep 10
- Doumith M, Ellington MJ, Livermore DM, et al. Molecular mechanisms disrupting porin expression in

- 110. Leavitt A, Chmelnitsky I, Colodner R, et al. Ertapenem resistance among extended-spectrum-beta-lactamaseproducing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates. J Clin Microbiol 2009 Apr; 47 (4): 969-74
- 111. MacGowan AP, Bowker KE, Noel AR. Pharmacodynamics of the antibacterial effect and emergence of resistance to tomopenem, formerly RO4908463/CS-023, in an *in vitro* pharmacokinetic model of *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008 Apr; 52 (4): 1401-6
- 112. Du B, Long Y, Liu H, et al. Extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bloodstream infection: risk factors and clinical outcome. Intensive Care Med 2002 Dec; 28 (12): 1718-23
- 113. Bin C, Hui W, Renyuan Z, et al. Outcome of cephalosporin treatment of bacteremia due to CTX-M-type extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli*. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2006 Dec; 56 (4): 351-7
- 114. Jones RN, Biedenbach DJ, Gales AC. Sustained activity and spectrum of selected extended-spectrum beta-lactams (carbapenems and cefepime) against *Enterobacter* spp. and ESBL-producing *Klebsiella* spp.: report from the SENTRY antimicrobial surveillance program (USA, 1997-2000). Int J Antimicrob Agents 2003 Jan; 21 (1): 1-7
- 115. Ramphal R, Ambrose PG. Extended-spectrum betalactamases and clinical outcomes: current data. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Apr 15; 42 Suppl. 4: S164-72
- 116. Zanetti G, Bally F, Greub G, et al. Cefepime versus imipenemcilastatin for treatment of nosocomial pneumonia in intensive care unit patients: a multicenter, evaluator-blind, prospective, randomized study. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003 Nov; 47 (11): 3442-7
- 117. Lee CH, Su LH, Tang YF, et al. Treatment of ESBLproducing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteraemia with carbapenems or flomoxef: a retrospective study and laboratory analysis of the isolates. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006 Nov; 58 (5): 1074-7
- 118. Tumbarello M, Spanu T, Sanguinetti M, et al. Bloodstream infections caused by extended-spectrum-beta-lactamaseproducing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: risk factors, molecular epidemiology, and clinical outcome. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Feb; 50 (2): 498-504
- 119. Gavin PJ, Suseno MT, Thomson Jr RB, et al. Clinical correlation of the CLSI susceptibility breakpoint for piperacillin-tazobactam against extended-spectrum-betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006 Jun; 50 (6): 2244-7
- 120. Rodríguez-Baño J, Navarro MD, Romero L, et al. Bacteremia due to extended-spectrum beta-lactamaseproducing *Escherichia coli* in the CTX-M era: a new clinical challenge. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Dec 1; 43 (11): 1407-14
- 121. Rodríguez-Baño J, Alcala JC, Cisneros JM, et al. Community infections caused by extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli*. Arch Intern Med 2008 Sep 22; 168 (17): 1897-902
- 122. Lagace-Wiens PR, Nichol KA, Nicolle LE, et al. Treatment of lower urinary tract infection caused by multidrugresistant extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing

Escherichia coli with amoxicillin/clavulanate: case report and characterization of the isolate. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006 Jun; 57 (6): 1262-3

- 123. Kim YK, Pai H, Lee HJ, et al. Bloodstream infections by extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in children: epidemiology and clinical outcome. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002 May; 46 (5): 1481-91
- Pitout JD. Multiresistant Enterobacteriaceae: new threat of an old problem. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2008 Oct; 6 (5): 657-69
- 125. de Cueto M, Hernandez JR, Lopez-Cerero L, et al. Activity of fosfomycin against extended-spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin 2006 Dec; 24 (10): 613-6
- 126. Galatti L, Sessa A, Mazzaglia G, et al. Antibiotic prescribing for acute and recurrent cystitis in primary care: a 4 year descriptive study. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006 Mar; 57 (3): 551-6
- 127. Oteo J, Orden B, Bautista V, et al. CTX-M-15-producing urinary *Escherichia coli* O25b-ST131-phylogroup B2 has acquired resistance to fosfomycin. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Oct; 64 (4): 712-7
- Falagas ME, Karageorgopoulos DE, Dimopoulos G. Clinical significance of the pharmacokinetic and pharma-

codynamic characteristics of tigecycline. Curr Drug Metab 2009 Jan; 10 (1): 13-21

- Zahar JR, Lortholary O, Martin C, et al. Addressing the challenge of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2009 Feb; 10 (2): 172-80
- Livermore DM, Tulkens PM. Temocillin revived. J Antimicrob Chemother 2009 Feb; 63 (2): 243-5
- 131. Glupczynski Y, Huang TD, Berhin C, et al. *In vitro* activity of temocillin against prevalent extended-spectrum betalactamases producing Enterobacteriaceae from Belgian intensive care units. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2007 Nov; 26 (11): 777-83
- Barton E, Flanagan P, Hill S. Spinal infection caused by ESBL-producing *Klebsiella* pneumoniae treated with temocillin. J Infect 2008 Oct; 57 (4): 347-9
- Nicolle LE, Mulvey MR. Successful treatment of CTX-M ESBL producing *Escherichia coli* relapsing pyelonephritis with long term pivmecillinam. Scand J Infect Dis 2007; 39 (8): 748-9

Correspondence: Dr Johann D.D. Pitout, Calgary Laboratory Services, #9, 3535 Research Road NW, Calgary, AB, T2L 2K8, Canada.

E-mail: johann.pitout@cls.ab.ca

Copyright of Drugs is the property of ADIS International Limited and its content may not be copied or emailed to multiple sites or posted to a listserv without the copyright holder's express written permission. However, users may print, download, or email articles for individual use.